ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEVEN LEE MORGAN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000895

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Trial Court erred in permitting a forensic analyst, who merely reviewed the non-testifying forensic analyst's notes, worksheets, and data and who did not personally conduct or observe any of the forensic testing, to offer an opinion based on the non-testifying analyst's work that the DNA profile developed from the semen on the rectal swabs taken from the complainant matched the DNA profile of Appellant where such testimony violated the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment.

- II. The Trial Court erred in refusing to charge the jury, as required by the United States Supreme Court in Williams v. Illinois, that (1) out-of-court statements cannot be accepted for their truth, and that an expert's opinion is only as good as the independent evidence that establishes its underlying premises; and (2) if the prosecution cannot muster any independent admissible evidence to prove the foundational facts that are essential to the relevance of the expert's testimony, then the expert's testimony cannot be given any weight by the trier of fact, where in this case an expert based her opinion on inadmissible testing conducted by and inadmissible conclusions reached by a non-testifying expert.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 11, 2012, Appellant Steven Lee Morgan was indicted by the Berkeley County Grand Jury for (1) first degree burglary; (2) first degree criminal sexual conduct; (3) kidnapping; (4) attempted murder ; and (5) possession of a knife during the commission of a violent crime. R.392.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. and a jury on April 19-23, 2013. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Chad D. Shelton and Keisha V. White, and the State was represented by Deputy Solicitor Bryan A. Alfaro and Assistant Solicitor Anne M. Williams. Id.

The jury found Appellant guilty on all counts. R. 375, l. 7 – 376, l. 9. Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to forty (40) years for first degree burglary and thirty (30) years each for the counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct, kidnapping, and attempted murder with those sentences to run concurrent to the forty year first degree burglary sentence. R. 383, ll. 5-19; R. 392 (Sentence Sheets). For possession of a knife during the commission of a violent crime, Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to five (5) years which was to run consecutive to the forty year first degree burglary sentence. R. 383, l. 20 – 384, l. 6; R. 392 (Sentence Sheet).

Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court erred in permitting a forensic analyst, who merely reviewed the non-testifying forensic analyst's notes, worksheets, and data and who did not personally conduct or observe any of the forensic testing, to offer an opinion based on the non-testifying analyst's work that the DNA profile developed from the semen on the rectal swabs taken from the complainant matched the DNA profile of Appellant where such testimony violated the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment.**

Relevant facts from trial

Rose Lampkin met Appellant several years prior to the trial. Lampkin met Appellant when he came from Georgia to visit his sister for the Thanksgiving holiday, and Appellant's sister introduced Lampkin to Appellant. R. 40, ll. 3-7. At some point, Lampkin and Appellant began to date and he moved in and lived with Lampkin for a little over two years. *Id.* at ll. 8-13. Eventually, the relationship did not work out and Lampkin "put him out" of their home. Lampkin packed up all of his things, put them in a truck, and took the truck to the truck stop. R. 40, l. 15 – 41, l. 5. Lampkin said this occurred on December 14, 2011. R. 41, ll. 8-16.

Lampkin also testified that she owned the truck in which she packed up all of Appellant's belongings and dropped off at the truck stop, but that she decided to "basically give [Appellant] the truck because [she] just didn't want to have anything else to have to do with him." R. 42, ll. 2-15.

On the evening of January 29, 2012, Lampkin went to a birthday party out in the country where she drank a couple of alcoholic beverages and got back home around 2:00 in the morning. R. 42, ll. 15 – 24; 98, ll. 17-20; 157, ll. 10-15; 162, ll. 16-18. After she went to bed, she was awakened by a loud noise and at first thought one of the mirrors in her house

had fallen from one of the walls. She jumped out of bed and ran to the top of the stairs. She alleged that she then saw Appellant running up the stairs. R. 44, ll. 3 – 15.

According to Lampkin, Appellant was upset and grabbed her, allegedly choking and slapping her. He was apparently upset because Lampkin had “put [him] out of this house and [he] had no place to go.” R. 45, ll. 3 – 5. Lampkin alleged that Appellant sexually assaulted her and continued to physically assault her, at one point holding a knife to her neck. R. 45 – 48.

Lampkin testified that Appellant finally left and took her keys with him. R. 65, ll. 11-13. Appellant was apprehended by law enforcement on January 29, 2012 and the truck Appellant was driving – the truck Lampkin had given Appellant when she put him out of the house – was returned to Lampkin. Before the truck was returned to Lampkin, it was searched but no evidence was found. Lampkin sold this truck to a friend named Victor Mazyck around the end of March 2012 – approximately two months after she alleged Appellant attacked her. Therefore, this truck was in the sole possession of Lampkin for about two months after the incident. When Mazyck was changing out the center console of the truck, he found Lampkin’s keys and a knife under the console. R. 65, l. 14 – 66, l. 18; 68, ll. 15 – 22; 69, ll. 7-20; 89, ll. 18-24; 177, ll. 9-21; 182, ll. 9-18; 185, ll. 4-7; 192, l. 16 – 193, l. 4. Law enforcement obtained custody of the knife on April 3, 2012 and obtained the keys on April 6, 2012. R. 177, l. 22 – 178, l. 16.

Lampkin was examined by a sexual assault nurse examiner (“SANE”) who collected swabs from areas of Lampkin’s body thought to perhaps contain DNA, including oral, vaginal, rectal, and external genital swabs. The SANE nurse also collected a known DNA swab from Lampkin R. 147, ll. 4 – 5; 149, l. 13 – 156, l. 11. The SANE nurse noted that

there were no injuries to Lampkin's back area, wrists, ankles, vagina or anus. R. 161, l. 8 – 162, l. 1.

A DNA analyst from Intelligenetics, Dr. Daniel DeMiers, testified that DNA of Appellant was found on certain items taken from Lampkin's home by law enforcement for analysis, including a green corduroy jacket belonging to Lampkin, torn pieces of a white towel, wire hangers, and two cigarette butts. R. 229, l. 6 – 232, l. 14; 242, l. 4 – 248, l. 23. DeMiers acknowledged that if someone had lived in a home, DNA of that person could be transferred to certain objects within the home. R. 262, l. 1 - 266, l. 8.

DeMiers also ran tests on the knife found in the truck by Victor Mazyck. The knife blade contained a DNA mixture of three people. Lampkin matched the mixture profile found on the knife blade, but Appellant was excluded from the knife blade. DeMiers testified that Appellant did not match the mixture profile found on the knife blade R. 248, l. 24 – 249, l. 17; 272, l. 22 – 273, l. 13. The knife was a flip open knife that had to be touched by the blade to open it. R. 273, ll. 6 – 10. While DeMiers could not say who else handled the knife blade, he could say “with certainty that there were three people – three people who handled or were in contact with [the] blade at some point.” Appellant was not one of those three people. R. 249, l. 18 – 250, l. 1.

DeMiers also tested the handle of the knife. He again obtained a mixture of at least three people and could not exclude Lampkin or Appellant as one the contributors. DeMiers testified that the third person was unknown. R. 250, ll. 8-18; 273, l. 14 – 274, l. 8. DeMiers also testified that Mazyck, the person who found the knife, was excluded as a contributor of the DNA mixture found on both the knife blade and handle. R. 250, l. 19 – 251, l. 1.

The last witness to testify at trial was Amanda Webb. She was employed by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”) as a DNA case analyst. R. 278, ll. 6-14. Analyst Webb was not the SLED forensic analyst who tested the evidence collected by the SANE nurse during the sexual assault examination of Lampkin. Rather, this evidence was tested by Mary Boehm, another forensic analyst in the DNA department of SLED. R.*(State’s Motion *in Limine* to Include Expert Testimony).

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion *in limine* seeking to admit the testimony of Analyst Webb contending that Analyst Webb “reviewed the results, work sheets, specimens, procedures and protocols used in the original testing and formulated her own expert opinion based on the review.” Id. The Stated based its motion in part on the opinion issued by the Supreme Court of the United States in Williams v. Illinois, 132 S. Ct. 2221 (2012) which permitted an expert witness from the Illinois State Police Laboratory to testify that a DNA profile produced by an independent, outside laboratory from a vaginal swab of the victim matched a DNA profile produced by the state police lab using a sample of the defendant’s blood. Id.

The State asserted in its motion *in limine* that the introduction of Analyst Webb’s testimony would not violate the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution and requested the Trial Court to admit the expert opinion of Analyst Webb regarding Appellant’s DNA profile compatibility with evidence collected in the sexual assault kit. The State also asserted in this motion that the original analyst would be on medical leave. Id.

The State also argued in its motion that Analyst Webb’s testimony would be proper under Rule 703, SCRE which provides: “The facts or data in the particular case upon which

an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.” Id.

During pre-trial hearings, the solicitor raised the motion *in limine* to the Trial Court and argued that the recent opinions of the United States Supreme Court supported allowing a forensic scientist to testify about the results of tests conducted by another forensic scientist. R. 6, l. 23 – 7, l. 4. The solicitor acknowledged that he could bring in the original analyst, but that she was on maternity leave so he did not want to have to bring her in to testify about her test results. R. 7, l. 25 – 8, l. 5.

Defense counsel objected “on the grounds that this is essentially a backdoor way for the Solicitor to get in the analyst’s opinions without the analyst being present.” R. 8, l. 22 – 9, l. 2.

The Trial Court ruled against Appellant:

This isn’t foreign to me either. This happens every day in civil court. Doctors typically in malpractice cases review files and then render opinions. This is what we are talking about. I mean, it really is nothing new insofar as the world of expert testimony. As we know, the Rule doesn’t even say that it has to be admissible, that they can consider anything. You can’t bring out inadmissible evidence. You can in cross-examination, or the Court can. But clearly a witness – if the witness is qualified and then meets the other requisite tests that are outlined in Watson¹ and its progeny, then, folks, I have no problem with it.

R. 7, ll. 6-19.

¹ Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010).

The Trial Court went on further:

[T]o my knowledge, it's the law. I was involved in this case, indirectly. I sat right over there and watched the trial, *Jackson v. Humble Oil*. My former doctor – I guess that he was – he was a part-time physician, Dr. Robert Solomon. He was contacted on Friday. The case went to trial on Monday. I think Buster Holland and Tommy Tisdale were the defense counsel. George Bishop and Bob Wallace tried the case – Big George, not Little George. The issues were whether or not this witness could render an opinion. He never saw the plaintiff in his life, he just read the records. But he rendered an opinion about the injuries that the plaintiff sustained.

...

[T]hat's just a common practice, at least in the civil side, that's been done for years. We typically – and I'll tell you the strategy behind it. We have a doctor from Charleston that before – before county lines really disappeared, if you tried a case in Berkeley before a Berkeley jury you wanted a doctor that a Berkeley jury was likely familiar with. That was the reason that you their faces and their opinions, because it might carry a little more weight than somebody that they didn't know.

But – so it's not . . . uncommon

R. 9, l. 3 – 10, l. 10.

The Trial Court therefore permitted Analyst Webb to testify about the DNA testing conducted by another SLED forensic analyst and express an opinion about whether the swabs taken from Lampkin matched the semen DNA profile of Appellant. Analyst Webb testified that she conducted a peer review of the testing conducted and report prepared by the other analyst, Analyst Boehm, in this case. Analyst Webb also testified that she reviewed the whole case file before her trial testimony. R. 280, l. 1 – 281, l. 1.

Analyst Webb testified that for this case, she reviewed the following: (1) the case report, which contained a list of all the items that were submitted to SLED for this case for analysis; (2) the incident report and crime scene information; (3) medical notes, including the SANE nurse's medical notes; and (4) the lab bench notes and scientific data that the

Analyst Boehm used to perform her analysis and reach her conclusions for her report. R. 281, l. 22 – 282, l. 14. Analyst Webb also testified that she review the sexual assault kit received from Lampkin and the oral swab taken from Appellant. R. 282, l. 15 – 283, l. 1. The notes and results of Analyst Boehm were not admitted into evidence.

Analyst Webb said she also reviewed Analyst Boehm's laboratory evidence worksheet and notes and did not find anything written by Analyst Boehm that indicated any of the evidence was compromised, such as evidence not properly being sealed. R. 283, l. 16 – 284, l. 25.

Analyst Webb testified that she reviewed the case notes of all the preliminary testing conducted by Analyst Boehm to test for the presence of sperm or semen on the slides and that based off her review of these case notes, she formed an expert opinion as to what was identified on these slides in the preliminary testing. R. 285, l. 23 – 286, l. 7. Analyst Webb testified that based on her review of the case notes, her expert opinion was the following:

Semen was indicated on the vaginal swabs. No semen was identified on the oral swabs. Semen was identified on the rectal swabs. Semen was indicated on all of the following:

External genitalia swabs.

Another set of vaginal swabs.

Perianal swabs.

Perineum swabs.

R. 286, l. 8 – 16.

Analyst Webb further testified that based on her review of the records, that only DNA from Lampkin was found on the vaginal swabs and that a male profile could not be developed. R. 288, ll. 5-16.

Based on her review of the records of the rectal swabs, Analyst Webb testified that she formed an expert opinion as to a male profile on the semen that was found on the rectal swabs and that in her opinion, the “DNA profile developed from the semen on the rectal swabs matche[d] the semen profile of [Appellant].” R. 289, l. 21 – 290, l. 6.

On cross-examination, Analyst Webb admitted that she was not present when the items were first run through the machines and analyzed and that she was not with Analyst Boehm when Boehm was conducting the laboratory work. Analyst Webb only reviewed Analyst Boehm’s “notes, worksheets and data.” R. 290, ll. 18 – 24. Therefore, Analyst Webb acknowledged that she was completely relying upon all of Analyst Boehm’s work and data that Analyst Boehm produced in reaching her own opinions and conclusions. Analyst Webb further acknowledged that she had to assume that everything Analyst Boehm did was correct. R. 290, l. 25 – 291, l. 6.

Analyst Webb also testified that SLED had procedures and guidelines that must be followed so that there is not cross-contamination or any type of transfer of DNA or cells. R. 292, ll. 5-9. Some of these procedures including wearing personal protective equipment such as gloves, lab coats, masks, and safety goggles. It is mandatory to change gloves between samples in different cases and in between evidence such as buccal swabs so there cannot be any cross-contamination. Instruments such as scissors have to either be changed or cleaned with a bleach and water solution, followed by an ethanol and alcohol wipe.

Analysts needs to make sure not to sneeze, cough, touch their face, or talk over the evidence they are analyzing. R. 292, l. 10 – 293, l. 23.

In this case, Analyst Webb conceded that since she did not perform any of the analysis of the evidence in the case, she had to rely on Analyst Boehm doing everything correctly. R. 293, l. 24 – 294, l. 2.

At the close of the evidence, the Trial Court stated that all pre-trial and objections made during trial were noted and preserved for the record. R. 309, ll. 6-20.

Discussion

The Trial Court's admission of Analyst Webb's expert testimony that a DNA profile generated from an oral swab taken from Appellant matched a DNA profile obtained from the semen on a rectal swab taken from Lampkin was erroneous where the admission of Analyst Webb's expert testimony violated Appellant's Confrontation Clause rights. Analyst Webb was not the actual analyst who conducted the testing and concluded that there was a DNA match. The Trial Court based his ruling on the fact that this is done all the time in civil cases, but this is not a civil case and the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." Therefore, as an initial matter, the Trial Court erred in applying what may be done in civil cases to a criminal trial in which the accused defendant is guaranteed certain rights under the United States Constitution.

Secondly, the Trial Court erred in allowing Analyst Webb's testimony where the Confrontation Clause prohibits a forensic expert, who merely reviewed a non-testifying forensic analyst's reports, notes, and results and who did not personally conduct or observe

any of the relevant analysis, from testifying regarding the non-testifying analyst's procedures and conclusions and opine on the non-testifying analyst's results.

This procedural protection provided under the Sixth Amendment applies in both federal and state prosecutions by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 406, (1965). In Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68–69 (2004) the Supreme Court of the United States unanimously found the criminal defendant's Confrontation Clause rights had been violated by the admission into evidence a tape recording of a non-testifying person's "testimonial" statement to police. The Court in Crawford held that the Confrontation Clause guarantees a defendant's right to confront those "who bear testimony" against him. Id. at 51. Crawford changed the law to prohibit the admission of testimonial, out-of-court statements unless two conditions are met: the witness is unavailable at trial and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. Id. at 68. Otherwise, a witness's testimony against a defendant is inadmissible at trial. Id.

Thereafter, in Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 311 (2009) the Supreme Court found sworn certificates from forensic analysts, which were admitted at trial to attest that the substance seized from the criminal defendant was cocaine, were testimonial in nature and thus subject to the Confrontation Clause. The Supreme Court noted "the sole purpose of the affidavits was to provide 'prima facie evidence of the composition, quality, and the net weight' of the analyzed substance," and held that the analysts were "witnesses" for the purposes of the Confrontation Clause and that the testimonial statements were "against" the criminally accused because they proved a fact necessary for his conviction—namely, that the substance he possessed was cocaine. Id. at 311–12. The defendant was entitled to "be confronted with" the analysts at trial. Id. at 311. The Court recognized that

the analysts who conducted the testing and swore in affidavits as to the results of the test were subject to confrontation, no matter how reliable they were and even if they possessed the “scientific acumen of Mme. Curie and the veracity of Mother Theresa.” *Id.* at 319, n.6.

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