ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County  
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000895

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

STEVEN LEE MORGAN,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O T. Wallace Building  
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

Because the trial judge’s pre-trial ruling was not a final ruling and the testimony was not admitted immediately after the trial judge issued his preliminary ruling, defense counsel was required to renew the objection to Webb’s testimony during trial in order to preserve any issue with the admission of that testimony for appellate review. See State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (“A ruling in limine is not

final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review.”), see also Armstrong v. Atl. Coast Line R.R. Co., 137 S.C. 113, 121, 133 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1926) (“In each case the trial Judge clearly indicated that his action in admitting the testimony *was not final*, and that he would thereafter hear objections on a motion to strike out the testimony, and in each case no further effort to secure a final ruling on a motion to strike out was made. Under no construction can the motion to strike out with the Judge’s ruling thereon, in the case at bar, be considered a final settlement of the question of admissibility.” (italics in original)). However, defense counsel did **not** do so. Cf. State v. Stokes, 339 S.C. 154, 163, 528 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2000) (“[T]he record reflects that this issue was only raised and ruled on in limine. Stokes never raised the issue again at any time during the trial. Merely raising an argument in limine does not preserve the issue for appellate review.”). Accordingly, Appellant’s issue in regard to the admission of Webb’s expert testimony was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot properly be raised or addressed on appeal. See State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>8</sup> Notwithstanding the fact Appellant’s issue with the admission of Webb’s testimony was blatantly unpreserved for appellate review and even assuming arguendo the admission of that testimony was improper, any error that could have resulted from its admission was entirely harmless in light of the other evidence and testimony presented during trial. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”), see also United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”) Critically, aside from Webb’s testimony, Dr DeMiers offered cumulative expert testimony linking Appellant to the home invasion and sexual assault by confirming Appellant’s semen was present on the torn strips of towel taken from Victim’s home and Appellant’s D N A was present on Victim’s bloody jacket, on the cigarette butts found on the floor of Victim’s home, on the wire used to restrain Victim, and potentially on the knife used in the crimes. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) (“It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other

## II.

**Appellant's issue with the trial judge's failure to present certain jury instructions Appellant now contends should have been presented to the jury during trial was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not request those jury instructions at an appropriate time during trial and expressly waived any issue he had in regard to those instructions by affirming to the trial judge he had no objection to the jury instructions as presented after the trial judge finished instructing the jury on the applicable law.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in declining to instruct the jury: (1) out-of-court statements cannot be accepted for their truth and an expert's opinion is only as good as the independent evidence that establishes its underlying premises; and (2) if the prosecution cannot muster any independent admissible evidence to prove the foundational facts that are essential to the relevance of the expert's testimony, then the expert's testimony cannot be given any weight by the trier of fact. In support of that

---

evidence”), State v Blackburn, 271 S C 324, 329, 247 S E 2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”) Additionally, Victim fully testified about the incident and identified Appellant as her assailant without contradiction, testimony was presented establishing Victim’s keys and a knife were found hidden in the truck Appellant was found in after the incident, and numerous other witnesses testified about Victim’s severe injuries following the assault, Victim’s unwavering identification of Appellant as her assailant, and the readily-observable evidence of the struggle that had occurred in Victim’s home See State v Tench, 353 S C 531, 537, 579 S E 2d 314, 317 (2003) (“Given the abundant evidence of Tench’s guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt”), State v Gathers, 295 S C 476, 480-481, 369 S E 2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant’s guilt), see also State v Key, 256 S C 90, 97, 180 S E 2d 888, 891 (1971) (“The jury had before it positive identifications of each of the defendants. Such identifications were not denied. It is academic that failure of the defendants to testify created no inference of guilt against them. They did not have the burden of proving anything. However, undisputed testimony is more conclusive than testimony which is in dispute, and it is less difficult for this court to reason that guilt is conclusively proven when there is no denial, than when an accused person disputes the truthfulness of the State’s evidence.”) Furthermore, on cross-examination, Webb made clear to the jury her expert opinion was founded upon work performed by another analyst See State v Price, 368 S C. 494, 499, 629 S E 2d 363, 366 (2006) (finding the improper admission of hearsay evidence to be harmless where the hearsay evidence was impeached by the jury’s exposure to the fact the evidence was not based on any first-hand knowledge) Accordingly, under those circumstances, any error in the admission of Webb’s testimony could not have impacted the verdict in Appellant’s case and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt See State v Bryant, 369 S C 511, 518, 633 S E 2d 152, 156 (2006) (“[A]ppellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result”), cf. Schneble v Florida, 405 U S 427, 432 (1972) (“[U]nless there is a reasonable possibility that the improperly admitted evidence contributed to the conviction, reversal is not required. In this case, we conclude that the ‘minds of an average jury’ would not have found the State’s case significantly less persuasive had the testimony as to Snell’s admission been excluded. The admission into evidence of these statements, therefore, was at most harmless error” (citation omitted))

contention, Appellant maintains the trial judge was required to give those instructions in light of the United States Supreme Court's plurality decision in Williams v. Illinois, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S. Ct. 2221 (2012). However, Appellant's issue with the trial judge's failure to give the identified instructions cannot properly be raised or addressed on appeal because it was not properly preserved for appellate review and was specifically waived during trial. Critically, in Appellant's case, defense counsel called the trial judge's attention to the identified instructions during a pre-trial hearing but failed to request those instructions at an appropriate time during the charge conference conducted at the close of the evidentiary phase of trial.<sup>9</sup> Then, after the trial judge presented the jury instructions to the jury, defense counsel specifically affirmed to the trial judge he had no objections to those instructions. Under those circumstances, Appellant's issue with the trial judge's failure to give the now-desired jury instructions was not properly preserved for appellate review and, instead, was expressly waived. Accordingly, Appellant's convictions must be affirmed on issue preservation grounds.

In addition to the general issue preservation requirements in South Carolina, the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provide specific guidance in regard to raising and preserving an objection to a jury charge. See Rule 20, SCRCrimP (outlining the requirements for requesting jury instructions and objecting to a jury charge). Pursuant to those criminal procedure rules, a defendant must object to the jury instructions as given or request a jury instruction at an appropriate time when afforded the opportunity to do so in order to properly preserve an objection to or issue with a jury charge. State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985); see Rule 20(a),

---

<sup>9</sup> Notably, defense counsel conceded during trial his pre-trial discussion of the jury instructions, which occurred before any evidence had been introduced, might be "really premature" (R pp 10-11)

SCRCrimP (“All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.”); Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection.”). The rule in South Carolina “is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.” State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976); see Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”).

In the case sub judice, defense counsel called the trial judge’s attention during a pre-trial hearing to several jury instructions defense counsel contended would be appropriate if an expert witness subsequently testified in a particular manner during trial. In response to defense counsel’s contention, the trial judge indicated he believed the identified instructions would not be proper under South Carolina law. Thereafter, at the close of the evidentiary phase of trial, the trial judge conducted a charge conference to determine what jury instructions would be presented to the jury and gave the parties an opportunity to request any jury instructions they believed would be appropriate. At that time, defense counsel did **not** request the jury instructions he had previously identified during the pre-trial hearing or make any other reference to those instructions. Subsequently, the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law and then asked the parties if they had any objections to the instructions as presented. In response to that inquiry, defense counsel did **not** object and, instead, specifically indicated he had no

objection to the jury instructions that had been presented to the jury. Thus, in Appellant's case, the only reference to the jury instructions Appellant now contends should have been given was made pre-trial prior to the introduction of any evidence that could have warranted the giving of those instructions, defense counsel never requested those instructions be given at an appropriate time during trial, and defense counsel directly assured the trial judge he had no objection to the jury instructions that were actually presented despite the fact they did **not** include the particular instructions Appellant now contends should have been included.

Because defense counsel did not request the jury instructions Appellant now contends should have been given when presented with an opportunity to do so at an appropriate time during trial, any issue in regard to the trial judge's failure to give the jury instructions was not properly preserved for appellate review. See Rule 20(a), SCRCrimP ("All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted **at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.**" (emphasis added)); see also Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43 ("The rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge."). As a result, Appellant's appellate issue with the trial judge's failure to give the jury instructions he now believes should have been given cannot appropriately be raised or addressed on appeal. See State v. Hall, 253 S.C. 294, 295, 170 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1969) ("The defendant did not raise the objections to the instructions at the trial although full opportunity was afforded to do so . . . . The failure of the defendant to object or request additional instructions, when

opportunity was afforded, constituted a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of errors in the charge.”).

However, even assuming the issue somehow had been properly preserved for appellate review through defense counsel’s pre-trial remarks, any issue with the desired jury instructions **still** could not appropriately be raised or addressed on appeal because defense counsel expressly waived the issue during trial. See State v. O’Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). Critically, after the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law without presenting the jury instructions Appellant now contends should have been given, defense counsel specifically informed the trial judge he had no objections to the jury charge as presented. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown’s issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge he had no objection to the instruction); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”); see also Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel

specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”). Accordingly, because defense counsel affirmed he had no objections to the jury instructions after they were presented to the jury, any issue defense counsel may have had in regard to the trial judge’s jury instructions was expressly waived, and Appellant is precluded from now raising an issue with the jury charge on appeal. See State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) (“Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.<sup>10</sup>

---

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